MINUTES OF THE CHIDDINGSTONE ANNUAL PARISH COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 17^{TH} MAY 2022 AT 7.30PM IN CHIDDINGSTONE CAUSEWAY HALL

Present: Cllr J. Roper (Chairman), Cllr C. Bishop, Cllr P. Harris, Cllr P. Myers, Cllr B. Taylor,

Cllr P. Vicary and Cllr H. Williams

Apologies: Cllr M. Quirk, Cllr A. Baker and District Cllr J. Osborne-Jackson

In attendance: Mrs L. Kleinschmidt (Clerk). County Cllr M. McArthur attended the meeting for the Open

Session only.

Closed Session:

1. a. Election of Chairman for year 2022/2023

Cllr Myers proposed that Cllr Roper be re-elected as Chair for the year 2022/23. This was seconded by Cllr Williams and there were no other nominations. Members unanimously voted to accept the proposal. Cllr Roper said that he was willing to stand and was duly elected.

b. To receive Chair's Declaration of Acceptance of Office

Cllr Roper signed the Chair's Declaration of Acceptance of Office, which was countersigned by the Clerk.

2. Election of Vice-Chair for year 2022/2023

Cllr Roper proposed that Cllr Myers be re-elected as Vice-Chair for the year 2022/23. This was seconded by Cllr Vicary and there were no other nominations. Members unanimously voted to accept the proposal. Cllr Myers said that he was willing to stand and he was duly elected.

The Closed Session was suspended for the Open Session

Open Session

Report by County Cllr McArthur

County Cllr McArthur reported that one of KCC's vital services, Children's Services, has had an Ofsted inspection. C.Cllr McArthur said that she has been helping with appeals for school places and transport to schools for children in her ward.

Members agreed to discuss the train horns in Bough Beech in the Open Session so that C.Cllr McArthur could be included in the discussion. The Clerk reported that she has now had a response from Network Rail Southern, as follows: "The level crossings team advised me that there are a range of systems that Network Rail can use to detect approaching trains and provide a warning at a level crossing. They vary in complexity depending on the rail layout and proximity of the level crossing to other infrastructure, such as stations, signals, junctions. The challenge is that any system gives crossing users a consistent warning time without being excessive in duration, or else there's a risk that crossing users might disregard warnings, or the system might 'time out' and effectively switch off the warning (for instance if the crossing is near a station and a train has stopped at the platform). The most simple (and cheapest) systems are normally installed in simple rail locations i.e. where a level crossing is on a "plain line" and not close to a signal, station, or junction. More complex systems that can take information from the signalling system to keep warning times consistent are more expensive due to their components and design. Our engineers have advised that a modern, traffic light type system with advanced technology that can recognise when trains are not moving would cost in the region of £220,000, which assumes Network Rail fitment of the system. However a review of the location is advisable to consider the type of options available and to see which system would be most suitable. Please let me know if this is something you'd like to arrange and I will liaise with the signallers and level crossing team." Members agreed that Network Rail should be asked to carry out a review of the location.

C.Cllr McArthur left the meeting at 7.43pm.

Closed Session

- **3. Apologies for absence** were received from Cllr Quirk and Cllr Baker and members accepted their reasons for absence. Apologies for absence were also received from District Cllr Osborne-Jackson.
- **4. Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest / Non-Pecuniary Interest on matters to be discussed** Cllr Bishop declared a DPI in item 10(i)(ii) as he is the applicant for this planning application.

5. Appointment of Committees and representatives to other bodies

Members unanimously approved the following:

Planning Committee: Cllr Mitzi Quirk (Chair)

Cllr Jonathan Roper Cllr Howard Williams Cllr Paul Myers Cllr Paul Vicary

Finance Committee: Cllr Jonathan Roper (Chair)

Cllr Paul Myers Cllr Paul Vicary

Affordable Housing Cllr Jonathan Roper (Chair)

Committee: Cllr Andy Baker

Cllr Mitzi Quirk Cllr Howard Williams

Aviation Working Group: Cllr Penny Harris

Cllr Chris Bishop

Representatives to other bodies:

<u>HWCAAG:</u> Cllr Penny Harris

Cllr Chris Bishop

Liaison between Parish Council and Parochial Church Council: Cllr Penny Harris

Kent Association of Parish Councils, Sevenoaks Area Committee: All

Chiddingstone Tennis Club: Cllr Paul Vicary Eden Valley Museum Trust: Cllr Howard Williams Margaret Hyde Almshouses: Cllr Andv Baker Chiddingstone Village Hall Management Committee: Cllr Penny Harris Chiddingstone Causeway Village Hall Management Committee: Cllr Andy Baker CPRE (Campaign to Protect Rural England): Cllr Chris Bishop Chiddingstone Ramblers: Jenny Chettle Cllr Chris Bishop Chiddingstone Tree Warden:

Chiddingstone Pond Warden:
Countryside Access Wardens:
Cllr Penny Harris
Cllr Howard Williams

Rob McCoy David Hunt

6. To confirm that the Parish Council is eligible to use the General Power of Competence

Cllr Roper reported that the General Power of Competence gives authorities the power to take the reasonable action they need 'for the benefit of the authority, its area or persons resident or present in its area'. Under the provision a local authority has power to do anything that individuals generally have full legal capacity to do. To remain eligible, the Parish Council has to confirm that:

- (a) the number of members of the council that have been declared to be elected, whether at ordinary elections or at a by-election, is equal to or greater than two-thirds of the total number of members of the council;
- (b) the Clerk is qualified in the Certificate in Local Council Administration;
- (c) the Clerk has completed the relevant training.

There are some restrictions: to abide by statutory duties such as considering the likely effect of crime and disorder and conserving biodiversity, and to abide by legislation, such as employment law, health & safety, equality and data protection. Members agreed that the Parish Council remains eligible to use this Power.

- 7. The minutes of the Chiddingstone Parish Council Meeting held on 19th April 2022 were approved and duly signed. Proposed by Cllr Myers, seconded by Cllr Harris, and all were in favour.
- **8.** To hear update on current legislation regarding Parish Council meetings and functions None.

9. To review the following policies and procedures:

The following policies were sent to all members:

- i. Standing Orders
- ii. Finance Regulations
- iii. Code of Conduct
- iv. Social Media Policy
- v. Complaints Procedure
- vi. Mourning Protocol
- vii. CCTV Policy
- viii. GDPR
 - i. Information & Data Protection Policy
 - ii. Document Retention & Disposal Policy
 - iii. The Management of Transferable Data Policy
 - iv. Members & Employee Privacy & Bring Your Own Device Acceptable Policy
 - v. Email Contact Privacy Notice
 - vi. List of Documents for Retention or Disposal
 - vii. Inventory of Personal Data Captured, Stored and Processed

Members approved the amendments to these policies, proposed by Cllr Vicary, seconded by Cllr Harris, and all were in favour.

10. Planning:

- i. To consider planning applications received
 - . SE/22/00490/HOUSE: Hillside, Chiddingstone Hoath TN8 7BU replacement of existing ground floor windows and doors with bi-folding doors. Members supported this application.
 - ii. SE/22/01039/HOUSE and SE/22/01040/LBCALT: Brook Cottage, Wellers Town Road, Chiddingstone Hoath TN8 7BE reinstatement of fire damaged pottery and greenhouse. Members supported this application.
 - iii. SE/22/01119/WTCA: Chiddingstone Village Hall, The Village, Chiddingstone TN8 7AH to fell an oak tree. Members supported this application.
 - iv. SE/22/00671/HOUSE: Squirrels, Ryewell Hill, Chiddingstone Hoath TN8 7BN three velux windows into roof on side elevations. Members supported this application.
 - v. SE/22/01146/FUL: Land East of Chequers Barn, Chequers Hill, Bough Beech TN8 7PD development of 11 dwellings, including 8 affordable homes, plus garages and associated works. Members strongly supported this application.
 - vi. SE/22/01034/FUL: Camp Site, Wilderness Farm, Wilderness Lane, Hever TN8 7LP change of use of land from agricultural to camping during the period between 1st April and 30th October each year together with provision of mobile washing and sanitary facilities. Members had no objection to the part of this application that refers to Chiddingstone parish.
 - vii. SE/22/01134/FUL: Coles Farm, Bore Place Road, Chiddingstone TN8 7AP convert and reconfigure an existing agricultural barn into stables, tack room and hay store. Construct a new private sand school for home and personal use. Members asked that Cllr Quirk has a look at the application and make a recommendation to the Parish Council.
- ii. To report SDC notifications of planning decisions
 - SE/22/00331/HOUSE: The Dairy Cottage, Mill Lane, Chiddingstone proposed extension and raised deck area with steps. Conversion of loft space into further accommodation with dormers and rooflight. Application withdrawn.

- SE/22/00421/PAH (Prior Approval Householders): Carberry Cottage, Tonbridge Road, Bough Beech TN8 7AU Prior notification of one additional storey immediately above the topmost storey of the dwelling house, together with engineering. The height of the proposed additional storey is 3m. Application approved.
- SE/22/00735/NMA: Willow Cottage, Hever Road, Bough Beech TN8 7NT Non Material Amendment to 21/02419/HOUSE. Application approved with conditions.
- SE/22/00973/WTCA: Crest Cottage, Chiddingstone Hoath TN8 7BT works to Trees in a Conservation Area removal of Yew tree down to a 5ft standing stem. No objection lodged.
- SE/ 22/01103/WTCA: The Old Rectory, The Village, Chiddingstone TN8 7AH works to Trees in a Conservation Area fell a large Rhododendron to ground level and grind stump below surface, fell 2 Yew trees to ground level. No objection lodged.
- SE/22/00750/HOUSE: Withers, Hill Hoath Road, Chiddingstone replacement of former garage doors on south east elevation with timber weatherboard/brick and two new windows. Installation of new external door to south west elevation. Application approved.
- SE/22/00027/CONVAR: Pucknells, Camp Hill, Chiddingstone Causeway variation of conditions 2, 4 and 8 of 18/01811/FUL for conversion of existing building to dwelling. Erection of a side extension. Associated works to the ground levels. Associated works to alterations, with amendments to soft/ hard landscaping, drawings and external lighting. Application withdrawn.
- SE/22/00810/HOUSE: 12 Dukes Meadow, Chiddingstone Causeway single storey side extension with roof light. Application approved.

iii. To hear update regarding the development at Grove Close, Hampkins Hill Road

The Clerk reported that she has received an update from the Enforcement Officer, who said that he spoke with the landowner last week and she stated that a new application will be incoming in the very near future. The application to make the stables and menage permanent was withdrawn.

iv. To hear update regarding the development at Pucknells, Camp Hill

The Clerk reported that she has finally heard back from the Planning Officer to her query as to whether permitted development rights have been removed. He said: "To answer your question the 2018 application, Planning reference 18/01811/FUL, did not remove permitted development rights from the development. The more recent application which has been built out would be the most relevant in our consideration so it would have permitted development rights. In this context the more recent application would carry more weight compared to the preceding application." Clerk to contact the Planning Officer to see what the residents plans are for this site, and if no new application is forthcoming, Clerk to contact Enforcement Officers.

v. To hear update regarding the planning appeal at Newtyehurst Farm

The Clerk reported that the Parish Council has submitted the following additional comment to the Planning Inspectorate: "In addition to the comments that Chiddingstone Parish Council made to the planning application SE/20/01834/FUL, the Parish Council wish to make the following comments on this planning appeal. Chiddingstone Parish Council objects to this appeal because the provision of affordable housing has not been secured. The applicant does not wish to use a registered housing provider and he wishes to deliver and manage affordable housing on the site himself. The Parish Council is concerned that this will not provide secure, accessible affordable housing for local people in perpetuity. A \$106 agreement has not been secured with Sevenoaks District Council. The Parish Council is not aware of whether the applicant has applied to the Regulator of Social Housing to obtain registered provider status himself. If he has not, or if this has not been granted, then the Parish Council is of the view that there are no mechanisms in place for the provision of affordable housing on this site."

11. Licensing

SE/22/01563/LAPRE: Lockskinners Farm, Chiddingstone TN8 7NA: premises licence application for supply of alcohol and provision of live and recorded music across 160 acres at Lockskinners Farm between 11am and 9pm. Members objected to the provision of live and recorded music which would have a detrimental impact on the tranquillity of this rural area. Members had no objection to the supply of alcohol.

12. Finance

- i. <u>To approve 2021/22 Year End Accounts</u>
 - Members approved the Year End Accounts, proposed by Cllr Roper, seconded by Cllr Myers and all in favour.
- ii. To review the effectiveness of the Parish Council's Internal Control Procedures

Members reviewed the Internal Audit Procedures and agreed that they remain effective. Proposed by Cllr Harris, seconded by Cllr Bishop, and all were in favour.

- iii. Audit for year ending 31st March 2022
 - a. To consider and agree Annual Governance Statement 2021/22
 - Cllr Roper read the statements as set out on the Annual Governance Statement and members responded as appropriate. Proposed by Cllr Myers, seconded by Cllr Harris, and all were in favour.
 - b. To consider and approve Accounting Statements 2021/22

Cllr Roper proposed that the Statement of Accounts be approved, this was seconded by Cllr Vicary, and all were in favour.

iv. To discuss the Internal Audit report 2022

The Clerk reported that the Internal Audit was carried out by Mulberry & Co on 22nd April and the report has been received and circulated. The report states "It is clear the council takes governance, policies and procedures very seriously and I am pleased to report that overall, the systems and procedures you have in place are fit for purpose and whilst my report may contain recommendations to change these are not indicative of any significant failings, but rather are pointers to improving upon an already well-ordered system. It is therefore our opinion that the systems and internal procedures at Chiddingstone Parish Council are well established and followed." There are some recommendations that need to be taken forward, and these will be reviewed and approved in the coming months. Cllr Roper said that the Internal Auditor's report was positive and thanked the Clerk for keeping the Parish Council's accounts and procedures in good order.

v. <u>To approve list of payments</u>

Cllr Williams proposed that the list of payments be approved. This was seconded by Cllr Vicary and all were in favour. Cllr Roper and Cllr Myers to authorise the payments online.

13. To hear update regarding the Chiddingstone Affordable Housing schemes

- i. Chequers site in Bough Beech: the Clerk reported that the planning application has been submitted and is subject to normal consultation.
- ii. Bassetts site in Chiddingstone Causeway: the Clerk reported that ERHA has reported as follows: "We're waiting for the results of the drainage investigations and surveys, the report has been promised for tomorrow. The initial ecological scoping survey has identified that further species surveys are required: Bat and Barn Owl, Reptiles, Badgers, Hazel Dormice and Native Crayfish. I'm waiting to receive fee quotes from the Ecologist"

14. Highways

i. <u>To hear update on the application to reduce speed on B2027 through Chiddingstone Causeway and to consider scheme details and associated costs</u>

The Clerk reported that she has finally had a response from Whitney Gwillim at KCC: "I met with our contractor on site last week and I am now in a position to share the proposed scheme drawing with you. You will see I am proposing a visual narrowing at both ends of the new speed limit on Tonbridge Road itself where traffic surveys indicated that speeds were a little higher than those recommended. Added to this are new terminal signs and road marking roundels. I have scaled back some of the previous suggestions I made so you will see that there is no red surfacing at these gateway points. On discussion with colleagues and following current KCC policy which is to reserve the use of coloured surfacing for locations where other traffic calming measures have not been successful in reducing speeds, I have removed it for now.

"However as part of the monitoring process of this scheme I would like to suggest that we take traffic surveys again a year after the scheme has been installed and if these suggest that further measures are needed that we revisit the scheme again with a view to installing these (funding to be confirmed).

"With regards to the two Vehicle Activated Signs that display 40mph, the existing signs will need to be removed, these would not be replaced automatically however if the monitoring process suggests that they are necessary and if other engineering methods have failed to reduce vehicle speeds then we can review whether they could be replaced at that stage. I regret due to available verge widths I was only able to fit one white gateway at the eastern end of the village. I am however proposing to leave the existing village signs where they are as they are quite large and a visual reminder to drivers that they are entering a village environment. These amendments have reduced the overall quote I gave previously and therefore the amended quote for the speed limit reduction is coming in at £8,955.80. If you are happy with this please let me know and I can arrange for an invoice to be raised. With regards to timescales we now have everything ready to handover to our contractor and there is a 3 month lead in time once works are committed in order for our contractor to mobilise. Due to other road works on Tonbridge Road the earliest we were advised that we could start work would be August. We are currently looking at mid-late August/early September for installation on site but this will be dependent on the how quickly payment is made. I regret we are unable to commit any works with our contractor until the above amount has been received."

Members approved the scheme and the quote for payment, but asked for a breakdown in costs. Clerk to request an invoice from KCC which members agreed to pay immediately.

ii. <u>To discuss access for lorries using the narrow lane at the top of the green in Chiddingstone Hoath</u>

Clerk to obtain a quote for a large oak post on the corner of the green by the letterbox and item to be discussed at the next Parish Council meeting.

iii. Kent Highways

- Temporary Road Closure Hale Oak Road, Sevenoaks Weald 20th May 2022 for 1 day between 08.00hrs and 18.00hrs at the junction with Halls Green. The closure is required for the safety of the public and workforce while works are undertaken by Openreach.
- Temporary Road Closure B2027 Clinton Lane, Bough Beech from 23.00hrs on 25th June 2022, with estimated completion by 02.00hrs on 27th June 2022. B2027 Clinton Lane, Bough Beech will be closed either side of the railway. The closure is required for the safety of the public and workforce while works are undertaken by Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd.
- Temporary Road Closure Ide Hill Road, Bough Beech 29th June 2022 for 1 day between 08.00hrs and 18.00hrs outside The Rustles. The closure is required for the safety of the public and workforce while works are undertaken by Openreach.
- Camp Hill, Chiddingstone Causeway 7th June 2022 until 19th September 2022. The road will be closed between B2027 Tonbridge Road and Camp Hill House. The closure is required for the safety of the public and workforce while works are undertaken by Sutton and East Surrey Water Company.

15. To discuss and approve costs associated with improvements at the pond in Chiddingstone Causeway

Cllr Roper reported that a breakdown of costs has been received as requested Members agreed to give a contribution by way of a grant of £2,000 and Clerk to ask for a detailed specification on the fence project.

16. Chiddingstone Sports Pavilion and Sports Ground

- i. To discuss the hedge planting works on the boundary of Chiddingstone Sports Field
 - Cllr Vicary reported that a quote has been received to remove the existing fence line of brambles and stock fence, to install 2 strands of plain wire and to remove post & rail fence and replace. Cllr Bishop reported that the Woodland Trust has approved his application for 350 native rural hedge saplings to be planted on community asset land. However, if agreement cannot be reached with the neighbouring residents about the hedge line, then the saplings must be cancelled by September. Cllr Roper, Cllr Vicary and the Clerk to take this forward.
- ii. <u>To discuss the Sports Association's Constitution and membership</u>
 Clerk to arrange a meeting with the Head or the Chairman of Governors at Chiddingstone School, Cllr Roper, Cllr Vicary and the Clerk.

17. Chiddingstone Community Garden

i. To discuss access for the general public

The Clerk reported that the school has had to lock the gate to the Community Garden from the village and from the Chiding Stone for Health & Safety reasons. The gates are closed throughout the school day during term time and opened on Friday afternoons. Cllr Harris to discuss with the school.

ii. To discuss the application to fell an oak tree and associated costs

The Clerk reported that she is still waiting to hear from SDC on approval to fell the tree and also waiting to hear back from the school regarding the boundary showing on their deeds.

18. To discuss correspondence received

The Clerk reported that lists of correspondence received have been circulated and drew members' attention to the following

- i. Item 2: Email from Nancy Lovegrove: "Please pass on our thanks to the Parish Council for their generous donation. On behalf of the Castle charity, we truly appreciate it."
- ii. Item 3: AEF Newsletter: There has been growing pressure for airport expansion to be scrapped in view of the UK's 2050 climate goals. In March, Leeds Bradford Airport axed its plans for a new terminal building. In April, the Secretary of State decided to call in Luton Airport's application to increase its capacity to 19 million passengers, citing "concerns over climate change targets and policies for enhancing the natural environment". Bristol Airport campaigners obtained permission to challenge the Inspectors' decision to grant permission in the High Court, and the High Court is also considering the decision to allow Southampton Airport to expand. Liverpool Airport expansion has meanwhile been called into doubt as councillors ponder whether growth is consistent with the city's environmental objectives. AEF continues to campaign against airport expansion at a legislative level, specifically asking the Government to provide clearer guidance for local councils when they consider expansion and raising awareness.
- iii. Item 5: Gary Churchill at The National Trust: "We have contractors starting work on a contract for external decorations on our properties next week. They will be starting at the Castle Inn end and working up towards the school. They may require access in a few weeks' time to bring scaffolding through the community garden which I hope will be OK?"
- Item 6: KCC Public Health: "Step by Step is a partnership of 10 organisations from the UK, France, Belgium, and the Netherlands, focused on developing a new model of community health improvement and employment for men. Based on the Men's Shed movement, the SBS model of men's sheds empowers isolated men from all social and ethnic backgrounds to get involved in community groups, starting up new activities in places where men meet. By participating in a new generation of 'men sheds', members can benefit from improved knowledge and skills, training in healthy conversation skills, and encouragement to pursue personal/professional development opportunities through peer support. The SBS project has worked with groups across UK (Hampshire), France, Netherlands, and Belgium to embed and test the SBS model and has been evaluated by the University of Chichester. See https://www.chi.ac.uk/research/research-areas/sport-research/health-and-wellbeing/step-by-step/." Cllr Bishop reported that the Grand Opening of the Groombridge Men's Shed is Sunday 29th May.
- v. Item 7: KCC consultation: 'No Mow May' is a campaign by the charity Plantlife to let your lawn grow throughout May and provide a carpet of flowers for our pollinators to feed on. Even leaving a small patch of your lawn uncut will make a big difference. Kent's Plan Bee team have been busy behind the scenes pulling together many KCC departments to put aside mowing some of the land they manage this May. For more information, resources and to make your pledge visit www.kent.gov.uk/nomowmay
- vi. Item 8: SDC: Sevenoaks Urban Area Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). SDC has commissioned Sustrans to provide a comprehensive Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) for the Sevenoaks Urban Area. The plan will detail potential walking and cycling routes to encourage the community and visitors to move more sustainably around the area. The development of the LCWIP includes an analysis of existing conditions, consultation with stakeholders and conducting an audit to develop recommendations and plans to use as the basis of funding bids.
- vii. Item 9: Margot McArthur KCC's Environment Briefing. Copied to all members.
- viii. Item 12: Email from Gary Churchill at The National Trust in response to the Parish Council's query about the continued closure of The Castle Inn.

- ix. Item 13: SDC: refuse collection crews will be working as usual on Thursday 2nd and Friday 3rd June 2022. There will be no changes to garden waste collections over the two bank holidays either. Residents should put their black and clear sacks out at 7am and garden waste out at 6.30am on their collection day. For more information visit www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/refuse.
- x. Item 14: Gatwick Airport Ltd: "As people begin to travel again and Gatwick continues to re-build operations, we would like to keep in touch with local community representatives, to help us understand local issues and share updates on Gatwick's business and operations going forward. To achieve this, we would like to invite a representative from your council to a virtual meeting with neighbouring parishes on 31st May 2022 from 6.00pm to 7.00pm. The agenda will include a very short update from Gatwick, with the rest of the meeting time devoted to questions and discussion as this provides an important opportunity for us to understand the key areas of interest from community representatives."
- xi. Item 15: KALC: details of Councillors Conference on Thursday 30th June at Lenham Community Centre 10am to 4pm including lunch. Cost £60 + VAT.

19. To hear update regarding the Margaret Hyde Almshouses

The Clerk reported that a meeting was held with Penshurst Almshouses on 21st April and she has not heard back. Item to be considered at the next Parish Council meeting.

20. To hear a report and discuss Parish Projects:

- i. Queen's Platinum Jubilee event
 - Members discussed the Jubilee event.
- ii. Heritage phone box in Chiddingstone Hoath
 - Cllr Harris said that there will be fund raising during the summer months to purchase a used phone box.
- iii. Rural Swathe and Visibility Cutting

The Clerk reported that following last month's meeting, she went back to KCC to discuss the September / October cutting dates and the fact that there is no variation in the timetable for growing conditions. KCC was not able to make allowances and all dates set were inflexible. Therefore, with the approval of the other Parish Councils in the cluster, the Clerk advised KCC that they would be handing back the contact for this season, with the understanding that the parishes and KCC will meet at the end of the year to discuss how the new system worked. The cluster would be in a position hopefully to take the contact back if the Parish Councils wish to next year.

iv. Litter Pick, Bulk Refuse Freighter and Flytipping

The Bulk refuse freighter next dates: 2nd July and 10th September at the following times:

- The Rock Inn, Chiddingstone Hoath 10.30-11.15
- The Wheatsheaf Inn, Bough Beech 11.30-12.15
- Richards Close, Chiddingstone Causeway 12.30-13.15
- v. Train horns in Bough Beech

See Open Session above.

vi. Summer Family Fun Play event

Friday 5th August from 2pm to 5pm on the Chiddingstone Causeway Sports Field.

21. Items for reporting or inclusion in future agenda

None.

The next Parish Council Meeting will be held on Wednesday 22nd June 2022 at 7.45pm in Chiddingstone Village Hall.

The meeting closed at 9.40pm.

* * * * *